PARIENTE LAW FIRM. P.C. 3960 Howard Hurbes Pkwy. Suite 615

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JACK PAUL BANKA,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Mar 16 2020 10:20 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

S. Ct. No.: 80181

District Ct. No.: C333254

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ, COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT Nevada Bar Number 9469
JOHN GLENN WATKINS, ESQ, OF COUNSEL
Nevada Bar Number 1574
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway #615
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Telephone: (702) 966-5310
Facsimile: (702) 953-7055
michael@parientelaw.com
johngwatkins@hotmail.com

STEVEN WOLFSON,
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
STEVEN OWENS,

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction of the instant appeal pursuant to NRAP 4(b) (criminal appeals), NRS 177.015(3) (appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case) and NRS 177.045 (intermediate order or proceeding reviewable on appeal).

ROUTING STATEMENT

The instant appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1). However, Banka believes that the Supreme Court should retain his appeal because the State's commingling of the misdemeanor DUI statute (NRS 484C.110) with the felony DUI statute (484C.430), substituting the misdemeanor "location" elements for the felony "location" element to charge Banka, if found lawful will affect every current, future and pending appeal case prosecuted under NRS 484C.430. See fn.8. Charging DUI defendants by commingling two (2) separate and distinct offenses is of statewide public importance because it applies to DUI's throughout the State.

Additionally, the State's "commingled created offense" is an issue of first impression.

ISSUES

- A. THE STATE'S COMMINGLING OF NRS 484C.110 (MISDEMEANOR) AND NRS 484C.430 (FELONY) FAILS TO CHARGE A LEGAL OFFENSE AND FAILS TO CONFER SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION ON THE DISTRICT COURT (OR ANY COURT).
- B. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT BANKA'S REQUEST TO WITHDRAW HIS PREVIOUSLY ENTERED PLEA OF GUILTY (*ALFORD*) WAS CONTRARY TO CONTROLLING LAW AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Banka's request for review by this Court challenges the State's commingling of NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 to charge Banka because the commingling is without legal authority, fails to charge a legal offense and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the district court (or any court).

Banka also challenges the district court's denial of his motion to withdraw his previously entered plea.

On June 19, 2019, the district court denied Banka's request to substitute John G. Watkins, Esq. and Michael D. Pariente, Esq. as new counsel. The district court denied Banka's request because new counsel could not be ready for trial in three (3) days.

27

28

1

After Banka pled to the State's "commingled created DUI offense", attorney Watkins and attorney Pariente were allowed to substitute as Banka's attorneys. Sentencing had not occurred at this time.

Banka filed a motion in arrest of judgment on October 23, 2019, which was subsequently denied.

On November 15, 2019, Banka filed a motion to withdraw his plea which was subsequently denied.

Banka was sentenced on December 4, 2019.

Banka filed the notice of appeal on December 4, 2019.

Written orders denying Banka's motion in arrest of judgment and motion to withdraw the plea were filed on February 25, 2020.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS¹

On November 1, 2016 at approximately 5:50p.m. appellant Banka (hereinafter Banka) was arrested for DUI resulting in substantial bodily injury, a NRS 484C.430 felony.² An 83 year old female passenger in the other vehicle sustained a broken sternum from impact of the airbag. Banka hired Thomas Boley, Esq. to represent him.

^{1.} NRAP 28(a)(8) states in relevant part: "a statement of facts relevant to issues submitted for review " Appellant Banka's two issues on appeal are legal not factual.

^{2.} Banka was also arrested and charged with leaving the scene of an accident which is not an issue in the instant appeal.

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

On January 11, 2017, the State filed a criminal complaint which did not charge the felony substantial bodily injury under NRS 484C.430 but instead commingled NRS 484C.110 (misdemeanor) and NRS 484C.430 (felony), two (2) separate and distinct offenses, to charge Banka. AA 3-4. The State's unauthorized "commingled offense" substituted the misdemeanor elements of "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" for the felony element "on or off the highways." See also, AA 5-6; AA 7-10; AA 11-13.

Attorney Boley did not file any motions on behalf of Banka. Banka became displeased with attorney Boley's representation and desired and attempted to retain new counsel, John G. Watkins, Esq. and Michael D. Pariente, Esq. Banka, attorney Boley and Michael D. Pariente, Esq. executed a Substitution of Attorneys which was filed. AA 22.

The district court judge, reading EDCR 7.40(c) as mandatory conditioned the substitution of new counsel being ready for trial in five (5) days. Since this condition could not be met, the substitution was denied. Additionally, John G. Watkins, esq. and Michael D. Pariente, esq. could not assist attorney Boley at trial with only three (3) days preparation.

The district court's denial to allow new counsel for Banka was appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court on an emergency motion for a Writ of Mandamus. The Supreme Court subsequently denied the Writ without addressing the merits. AA 23-24.

	1	
	2	
	3	
	4	
	5	
	6	
	7	
	8	
	9	
	10	
	11	
	12	
	13	
WWW.PARIENTELAW.COM	14	
IENTELA	15	
/W.PAR	16	
≶	17	
	18	
	19	
	20	
	21	
	22	
	23	
	24	
	25	
	26	
	27	

Before Banka's desire to have new counsel, the State offered a plea negotiation of two (2) to five (5) year sentence. AA 14-21. However, that negotiation was withdrawn when Banka filed the Substitution of Attorneys.

Without being allowed to have new counsel, Banka had to plead to the State's new offer of a four (4) to ten (10) year sentence.

After Banka's plea (*Alford*) but before sentencing, attorney John G. Watkins, esq. and Michael D. Pariente, esq. were allowed to substitute as Banka's counsel.

Based on the State's "commingled created offense" not being a legal charge, Banka filed a motion in arrest of judgment on October 23, 2019 which was subsequently denied. AA 49-51.

Banka then filed a motion to withdraw his (Alford) plea November 15, 2019 which was subsequently denied. AA 52-54.

Banka appealed the district court's denial of his two motions on December 4, 2019. AA 106-107.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT A: COMMINGLING STATUTORY "ELEMENTS" FROM TWO (2) SEPARATE CRIMES, NRS 484C.110 (MISDEMEANOR) AND NRS 484C.430 (FELONY), DOES NOT CHARGE A LEGAL OFFENSE AND FAILS TO CONFER SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION ON THE DISTRICT COURT (OR ANY COURT)

To legally charge a public offense³, there must be a formal accusation

^{3.} This Court defined "legal" in *Gathrite v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 135 Nev., Adv. Op. 54, 451 P.3d 891 (2019) as "required or permitted by law; not forbidden or discountenanced by law; good and effectual by law" or "[p]roper or sufficient to be

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

(indictment, information, or complaint) alleging the "elements" of the offense. See, Post v. United States, infra; Albrecht v. United States, infra. Each and every element of a public offense, not just some or most but all, must be alleged in the formal accusation to charge a legal offense. Almendarez-Torres v. United States, infra; United States v. Cook, infra; Hamling v. United States, infra; Russell v. *United States, infra and State v. Hancock, infra.* The "elements" of a statutory offense cannot be substituted with different "elements" from other statutes. An accusation which eliminates or substitutes the "elements" of the statutory offense by commingling separate and distinct statutes, here NRS 484C.110 (misdemeanor) and NRS 484C.430 (felony), does not charge a crime and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on a court. See, fn.3; fn.6; fn.7; fn.21. See also, State v. Cimpritz⁴. ("The elements necessary to constitute the crime must be gathered wholly from the statute and the crime must be described within the terms of the statute.") *Id.*, 110 N.E. 2d at 417-18. (emphasis added.)

The Second Amended Information filed against Banka substituted the misdemeanor "elements" of "on a highway or on premises to which the public has

recognized by law; cognizable in the courts", citing Legal, Black's Law Dictionary (4th ed. 1951). *Id.*, 135 Nev., Adv. Op. 54 at 5. A legal charge is a violation of a public law. NRS 171.010. A public offense must be conduct "prohibited by some statute of this state." NRS 193.050(1). There is no statute making the commingling of NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 a public offense. Therefore, the charge filed against Banka in Count 1 of the Second Amended Information is not a legal charge.

^{4. 158} Ohio St. 490, 110 N.E. 2d416 (1953)

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

access" for the felony "element" of "on or off the highways." See, fn. 10. The State admitted that the substitution was legally improper and the State would amend Banka's charge to comply with 484C.430 if Banka had went to trial. AA 61. The State's admission was ignored by the district court. AA 55-73. As a result of the commingled "elements," the Second Amended Information does not charge a legal offense in Count 16 and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the district court. NRS 484C.110 has absolutely no application to a charge under NRS

Additionally the substitution of the misdemeanor elements for the felony element by commingling NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 would require that the jury be instructed on "highway or premises to which the public has access" instead of "on or off the highways." This instruction would be contrary to law as NRS 484C.430 does not contain misdemeanor elements.

^{5.} The misdemeanor and felony "location" elements define different areas where the offense must occur, thus the elements are not interchangeable. See, fn.26; fn.28. The different meanings produce drastically different results. An acquittal may be compelled applying the misdemeanor "elements" but a conviction mandated under the felony element based on the identical evidence. For example, if a person operates a vehicle on a residential driveway while impaired, causing substantial bodily injury or death, the impaired driver must be acquitted under the misdemeanor "location" elements because the residential driveway is not a "highway or premises to which the public has access" as a matter of law. See, NRS 484A.185(3)(b). However, on the felony "location" element "on or off the highways", the impaired driver would be convicted. The felony covers the entire State of Nevada. See, fn.28.

^{6.} There is no statute criminalizing conduct by the commingling of NRS 484C.110 (misdemeanor) and NRS 484C.430 (felony) as alleged in Count 1 of the Second Amended Information filed against Banka. See again, NRS 193.050(1). ("No conduct constitutes a crime unless prohibited by some statute of this state or by some ordinance or like enactment of a political subdivision of this state.").

^{7.} A court cannot act without subject matter jurisdiction and, if it does, all its acts are void. Rhode Island v. Massachusetts, 37 U.S. 657, 718 (1938); State Indus. System v. Sleeper, 100 Nev. 267, 269, 679 P.2d 1273 (1984). Jurisdiction cannot be waived or

	1
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8
	9
	10
	11
.7055	12
)2) 953- 1	13
AX: (70	14
PHONE: (702) 966-5310 FAX: (702) 953-7055 www.parientelaw.com	15
02) 966-5310 1 WWW.PARIENTEL	16
(702) : w	17
PHONE	18
	19
	20
	21
	22
	23
	24

26

27

28

484C.430. Therefore, Banka's request for relief should be granted.⁸

I

LAW AND ARGUMENT

A.

THE STATE'S COMMINGLING OF NRS 484C.110 (MISDEMEANOR)
AND NRS 484C.430 (FELONY) FAILS TO CHARGE A LEGAL OFFENSE
AND FAILS TO CONFER SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION ON THE
DISTRICT COURT (OR ANY COURT)⁹

created when none exist. *Vaile v. Dist. Ct.*, 118 Nev. 262, 276, 44 P.3d 506 (2002). Jurisdiction cannot be conferred upon the court by actions of the parties and principles of estoppel and waiver do not apply. *Richardson v. United States*, 943 F.2d 1107, 1113 (9th Cir.) (1991); *State of Nevada v. Justice Court*, 112 Nev. 803, 806, 918 P.2d 401 (1996). *See also, fn.21*.

8. A finding that the State's "commingled created offense" is a lawful charge has far reaching implications. All present, future, and pending appeal cases will be affected. Every defendant charged with a violation of NRS 484C.430 would be entitled to the more favorable misdemeanor elements of "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" in the State's prosecution. To hold otherwise would run afoul of equal protection under both the United States and the Nevada constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Nev. Const. Art. 1, § 1 and Art. IV § 21.

A criminal statute violates equal protection if it treats similarly situated persons differently for reasons not initially related to a legitimate government interest. *Reed v. Reed*, 404 U.S. 71, 75-76 (1971). *See also, Laakonen v. District Court*, 91 Nev. 506, 508-509, 538 P.2d 574 (1975). There is no rational basis to treat alleged violators of NRS 484C.430 differently.

9. The Complaint, Information, and Amended Information contain the identical "commingled" language and statutory cites as the Second Amended Information, none of which charge a legally cognizable offense. AA 3-4; AA 5-6; AA 7-10.

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

a. There is no statute creating an offense by commingling NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430. Without such a statute, there is no crime. NRS 193.050(1).¹⁰

A person can only be lawfully prosecuted "... by the laws of this state for a public offense" NRS 171.010. A public offense is an act in violation of a penal law. Black's Law Dictionary 975 (5th ed. 1979). Conduct not statutorily forbidden is not a crime. See again, NRS 193.050(1). Crimes are enacted and defined by the lawmakers, not prosecutors. See, fn. 24. The legal definition of a crime is the legislative description of what conduct is forbidden. The constituent parts of a penal definition are the "elements" of the offense. See, Cordova v. State, 11 ("[t]he phrase 'element of the offense' signifies an essential component of the legal definition of the crime. . . . ")¹² There must be an indictment, information or complaint filed against the person charged.

^{10.} The State cites NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 indicating that both statutes were commingled to charge Banka in Count 1. See, a copy of the Second Amended Information. AA 11-13.

^{11. 116} Nev. 664, 668, 6 P.3d 481 (2000), citing People v. Hansen 855 P.2d 1022 (Cal. 1994).

^{12.} The location where the operation of the vehicle occurred is an "element of the offense" for DUI's in Nevada. However, the legal definition of the "location" varies depending on which DUI statute controls the State's prosecution. The misdemeanor statute requires that the offense occurred on a "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access." A felony prosecution under NRS 484C.430 requires "on or off the highways." The two elements have separate and distinct meanings. See, fn. 26; fn. *28*.

2

3

4

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14 NW.Parientelaw.0

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A formal accusation is essential for every criminal case. Post v. United States. 13 ("Criminal proceedings cannot be said to be brought or instituted until a formal charge is openly made against the accused "); Albrecht v. United States.14 ("A person may not be punished for a crime without a formal and sufficient accusation even if he voluntarily submits to the jurisdiction of the court.") To be sufficient, the formal accusation must charge a legal offense.

To charge a public offense, an indictment, information or complaint must allege every element of the offense. See, Almendarez-Torres v. United States. 15 ("An indictment **must** set forth each element of the crime that it charges." (emphasis added.); United States v. Cook. 16 ("... it is universally true that no indictment is sufficient if it does not accurately and clearly allege all the ingredients of which the offense is composed.")¹⁷ See also, Hamling v. United States, ¹⁸; Russell v. United States¹⁹. The Court in State v. Hancock, ²⁰ recognized, "[a]n indictment,

```
13. 161 U.S. 583, 587 (1896)
```

^{14. 273} U.S. 1, 7 (1927)

^{15. 523} U.S. 224, 228 (1998)

^{16. 17} Wall. 168, 174 (1872)

^{17.} This constitutional requirement applies to informations as well. See, NRS 173.075.

^{18. 418} U.S. 87, 117 (1974)

^{19.369} U.S. 749, 763 (1962)

^{20. 114} Nev. 161, 164, 955 P.2d 183 (1998)

	1
	2
	3
	3
	5
	6
	7
	8
	5 6 7 8 9
	10
	11
3-7055	12
*HONE: (702) 966-5310 FAX: (702) 953-7055 *WWW.PARIENTELAW.COM	13
02) 966-5310 FAX: (702) WWW.PARIENTELAW.COM	14
310 NRIENTEI	15
.) 966-5 /ww.PA	1516
E: (702 ×	17
PHON	18 19
	19

21

2.2.

23

24

25

26

27

28

standing alone, must contain: (1) each and every element of the crime charged .

..." (emphasis added.) Therefore, a charging document which fails to allege each and every element of the offense and substitutes "elements" from other statutes does not charge a legal offense.

The failure to charge an offense and/or lack of jurisdiction can be raised any time. NRS 174.105(3) states,

Lack of jurisdiction or the failure of the indictment, information or complaint to charge an offense shall be noticed by the court at any time during the pendency of the proceeding.²¹ (*fn.* added.)

These two issues can be raised by a motion in arrest of judgment. NRS 176.525 states,

The court shall arrest judgment if the indictment, information or complaint does not charge an offense or if the court was without jurisdiction of the offense charged. The motion in arrest of judgment shall be made within 7

^{21.} A court lacks subject matter jurisdiction if the formal accusation filed against the defendant does not charge an offense. See, Williams v. Municipal Judge, 85 Nev. 425, 429, 456 P.3d 440 (1969) ("... without a formal and sufficient accusation... a court acquires no jurisdiction whatever..."). The Court in State v. Ohio, 181 Ohio App. 3d 86, 907 N.E. 2d 1238 (2009) noted "[a] valid complaint is a necessary condition precedent for the trial court to obtain jurisdiction in a criminal case." Id., 907 N.E. 2d at 1241. The Court in Ex Parte Alexander, 80 Nev. 354, 358, 393 P.2d 615 (1964) stated "[w]e are compelled to hold that the failure of the indictment to allege that the crime was committed in the State of Nevada was fatal and that the court never acquired jurisdiction to try the case, and that its judgment was void." Ex Parte Alexander further stated, "... the failure being fatal to the sufficiency of the information could not be cured by evidence tending to show where the crime was committed." Id., 80 Nev. at 358. See also, State v. Cimpritz, supra. (A judgment of conviction based on an indictment which does not charge an offense is void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.) Id., 110 N.E. 2d at 418.

23

24

25

26

27

28

days after determination of guilt or within such further time as the court may fix during the 7-day period.

The word "shall" is mandatory.²² The Second Amended Information filed against Banka does not charge a legal offense.²³

The State commingled two (2) separate and distinct criminal statutes, NRS 484C.110 (misdemeanor) and NRS 484C.430 (felony), using elements from both to charge Banka. See again, fn. 10. Commingling "elements" from two (2) separate offenses does not charge a legal offense. Almendarez-Torres v. United States, supra; United States v. Cook, supra; Hamling v. United States, supra; Russell v. United States, supra and State v. Hancock, supra. There can be no addition, deletion or substitution of "elements" for those "elements" comprising a

22. The Court in Goudge v. State, 128 Nev. 548, 287 P.3d 301 (2012) stated,

The use of the word "shall" in the statute divests the district court of judicial discretion. See NRS 0.025(1)(d); see also Otak Nevada, 127 Nev. at 598, 260 P.3d at 411. This court has explained that, when used in statute, the word "shall" imposes a duty on a party to act and prohibits judicial discretion and, consequently, mandates the result set forth by the statute. Id.; see also Johanson v. Dist. Ct., 124 Nev. 245, 249-50, 182 P.3d 94, 97 (2008) (explaining that " "shall" is mandatory and does not denote judicial discretion" (quoting Washoe Med. Ctr. V. Dist. Ct., 122 Nev. 1298, 1303, 148 P.3d 790, 793 (2006))).

Id., 128 Nev. at 553.

23. Additionally, the Second Amended Information does not confer subject matter jurisdiction on the district court. See again, fn. 7, and fn. 21.

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