IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JACK PAUL BANKA,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 08 2020 07:37 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 80181

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009469 JOHN GLENN WATKINS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #001574 3960 Howard Hughes Pkwy, #615 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 (702) 966-5310

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A charging document is sufficient to grant the district court jurisdiction over a criminal case when that document states the date of the offense, location of the offense giving rise to the court's jurisdiction, and places the defendant on notice regarding the charges he will have to defend against. <u>Sheriff, Clark Cty. v. Levinson</u>, 95 Nev. 436, 437, 596 P.2d 232, 233 (1979); <u>see also Watkins v. Sheriff, Clark Cty.</u>, 87 Nev. 233, 234–35, 484 P.2d 1086, 1087 (1971).

In the instant case, the Second Amended Information was sufficient to place Appellant on notice. While the Second Amended Information contained the phrase "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" (which is found in NRS 484C.110) instead of "on or off the highways of this state" (which is found in NRS 484C.430), such an error did not cause Appellant not to be placed on notice for the charge he was facing.

Further, the district court did not abuse its discretion in Denying Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. Appellant's plea was entered voluntarily and knowingly. Further, Appellant failed to show any other reason that should have permitted him to withdraw his plea. For these reasons, Appellant's claims should be denied.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER APPELLANT.

Appellant's first claim is that the State failed to charge him with a legal offense. <u>AOB</u> at 9. According to Appellant, the State's Second Amended Information improperly contained the element "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" (which is an element under NRS 484C.110) instead of the element "on or off the highway." Appellant argues that therefore the State did not charge a legal offense. As such, Appellant claims that neither the district court, nor any court had subject matter jurisdiction over this case. <u>AOB</u> at 9-12.

A. The Information Need Only Place Appellant on Notice

NRS 175.010 states:

Every person, whether an inhabitant of this state, or any other state, or of a territory or district of the United States, is liable to punishment by the laws of this state for a public offense committed therein, except where it is by law cognizable exclusively in the courts of the United States.

As such, the Nevada court system has jurisdiction over any individual who commits any crime within this State's borders.

"There can be no conviction for or punishment of a crime without a formal and sufficient accusation; that, in the absence thereof, a court acquires no jurisdiction

whatever, and if it assumes jurisdiction such trial and conviction would be a nullity".

<u>Williams v. Mun. Judge of City of Las Vegas</u>, 85 Nev. 425, 429, 456 P.2d 440, 442 (1969). Where the charging document does not claim the public offense happened in the State of Nevada, the charging document fails to establish that Nevada courts have jurisdiction. <u>Application of Alexander</u>, 80 Nev. 354, 358, 393 P.2d 615, 617 (1964).

However, a charging document grants jurisdiction where it makes "a definite statement of facts constituting the offense in order to adequately notify the accused of the charges and to prevent the prosecution from circumventing the notice requirement by changing theories of the case." <u>Sheriff, Clark Cty. v. Levinson</u>, 95 Nev. 436, 437, 596 P.2d 232, 233 (1979); <u>see also Watkins v. Sheriff, Clark Cty.</u>, 87 Nev. 233, 234–35, 484 P.2d 1086, 1087 (1971) (holding that a charging document can grant jurisdiction to the Court even when the language in the criminal complaint does not precisely match the language in the statute under which the defendant was charged). In this respect, Nevada is a notice pleading state. <u>See Sanders v. Sheriff</u>, 85 Nev. 179, 181-82, 451 P.2d 718, 720 (1969) (stating: "the criminal complaint is intended solely to put the defendant on formal written notice of the charge he must defend" when resolving whether a court had jurisdiction over a case).

Further, the charging document need not be artfully pled. In <u>Levinson</u>, this Court found a charging document that provided a date and location of the offense, as well as a statement that "the offense occurred while respondent was engaged in a lawful act (driving a car), and alleges that the offense occurred because respondent

was driving in an unlawful manner (in excess of 100 miles per hour)", was sufficient.

Levison, 95 Nev at 437-38, 596 P.2d at 233-34.

Further, in State v. Jones, this Court stated:

The United States Supreme Court has held that reversible error exists only where the variance between the charge and proof was such as to affect the substantial rights of the accused. <u>Berger v. United States</u>, 295 U.S. 78, 82, 55 S.Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935). The reason for this is that (1) the accused must be definitely informed as to the charges against him so that he can prepare for trial and will not be surprised by evidence produced, and (2) the accused must be protected against double jeopardy another charge for the same offense. <u>See also Russell v. United States</u>, 369 U.S. 749, 763, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240 (1962).

This court is in agreement with this standard and has added that the indictment should be sufficiently definite to prevent the prosecutor from changing the theory of the case. <u>Adler v. Sheriff</u>, 92 Nev. 436, 440, 552 P.2d 334, 336 (1976); <u>Simpson v. District Court</u>, 88 Nev. 654, 660-61, 503 P.2d 1225, 1230 (1972). Also, we have looked to determine whether the challenge to the indictment was brought before trial or after trial and have said **that reduced standards apply to the sufficiency of indictments challenged after trial in contrast to pre-trial challenges.**

State v. Jones, 96 Nev. 71, 73-74, 605 P.2d 202, 204 (1980)(emphasis added). This

Court concluded in <u>Jones</u> that:

The sufficiency of the indictment was challenged only after all the evidence was presented at trial. Additionally, a state statute provides: "Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." NRS 178.598. These factors indicate the application of a reduced standard toward the sufficiency of the indictment and, as such, we find that the variance between the crime charged and the proof adduced was immaterial. It did not affect the substantial rights of the respondent because it did not impair his ability to prepare his case and defend himself against the charge.

Jones, 96 Nev. at 76, 605 P.2d at 205–06. While <u>State v. Jones</u> admittedly claims that the standard should be reduced where a defendant does not raise an issue with the Amended Information until after a jury has returned a verdict, here, Appellant did not proceed to trial. Instead, Appellant pled guilty pursuant to <u>Alford</u>. The State submits that Appellant's factual circumstances are analogous enough to the defendant in <u>Jones</u> that the same standard should be applied.

This is the same standard adopted by the Ninth Circuit. <u>See United States v.</u> <u>Gordon</u>, 641 F.2d 1281, 1284 (9th Cir. 1981) (stating: "While correct citation to the relevant statute is always desirable, both the Federal Rules and the cases interpreting them make it clear that an error or omission is not necessarily fatal."); <u>see also United States v. Clark</u>, 416 F.2d 63 (9th Cir. 1969) (upholding the district court's refusal to dismiss an indictment where appellant, who was accused of submitting a false travel voucher to the federal government, had been charged under 18 U.S.C. §287 instead of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, and stating: "The statutory citation is not, however, regarded as part of the indictment... We read Rule 7(c) to permit the citation of a statute on an indictment to be amended where, as here, the facts alleged will support such a charge."); <u>Steinhart v. United States District Court for District of Nevada</u>, 543 F.2d 69, 70 (9th Cir. 1976); <u>United States v. Wuco</u>, 535 F.2d 1200 (9th Cir. 1976), cert denied, 429 U.S. 978, 97 S.Ct. 488, 50 L.Ed.2d 586 (1979); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Shipstead</u>, 433 F.2d 368 (9th Cir. 1970).

It is clear then that the portion of the charging document stating the offense a defendant is alleged to have committed is sufficient to grant the court jurisdiction as long as the document places the defendant on notice of the allegations.

B. The Information Sufficiently Placed Appellant on Notice

In the instant case, Appellant pled guilty pursuant to <u>North Carolina v. Alford</u>, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). AA025. Appellant pled guilty to Driving and/or Being In Actual Physical Control of a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicating Liquor or Alcohol Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm. AA025. A Second Amended Information was filed along with the Guilty Plea Agreement, reflecting the facts underlying the charge. AA032-34

The State's Second Amended Information listed the crime which Appellant was charged (Driving and/or Being In Actual Physical Control of a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicating Liquor or Alcohol Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm) and the statutes under which he was culpable (NRS 484C.110, 484C.430). AA032-34. The Second Amended Information also stated the precise facts, including the date and location of the unlawful activity for which Appellant was being prosecuted. AA032-34. The Second Amended Information

further correctly indicated the following elements of the crime: (1) the Appellant was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle, (2) while under the influence of an intoxicating liquor, (3) with a concentration of alcohol of .08 or higher within two (2) hours after driving, and (4) that Appellant, while driving or in actual physical control of a vehicle, caused an accident with another vehicle and caused substantial bodily harm to another individual. AA032-34.

The only alleged deficiency in the Second Amended Information was that the Second Amended Information contained the element "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" (the location element imposed pursuant to NRS 484C.110) instead of "on or off the highways of this state" (the location element imposed pursuant to NRS 484C.430). Such an error did not cause Appellant not to be placed on notice for the charge he was facing. As the Second Amended Information stated, Appellant was being charged with Driving and/or Being In Actual Physical Control of a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicating Liquor or Alcohol Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm pursuant to NRS 484C.430. Even a cursory glance at the statute the Second Amended Information provided as reference would have revealed to Appellant exactly what elements the State had to prove against him.

Further, to the extent Appellant relied on the elements as described in the Second Amended Information, such reliance still put Appellant on notice of what

the State was charging him with. The phrase "on a highway or on premises to which the public has access" is a subset of "on or off the highways of this State." In other words, an individual cannot be on "a highway or premises to which the public has access" without also being "on or off the highways of this State." In fact, the only difference between these two standards is that under 484C.110, a defendant cannot be convicted of a DUI, unless some other factor is considered, while in an individual driveway, a private way, or on a farm. See NRS 484C.110; NRS 484A.095 (defining the term "highway"); NRS 484A.185 (defining the term "premise to which the public has access"). However, under NRS 484C.430, a felony conviction is permitted for driving a vehicle while impaired **anywhere** when said driving results in the substantial bodily harm of another. See NRS 484C.430; Hudson v. Warden, 117 Nev. 387, 396, 22 P.3d 1154, 1160 (2001) (finding that "on or off the highways of this state" was clear and unambiguous, and holding that an individual who was driving a vehicle at Burning Man festival in the Black Rock Desert was driving a vehicle "off the highway").³

However, this distinction is not even relevant to the instant case because there is no doubt (and indeed not even any controversy over) that Appellant committed this offense while on a highway. "Highway" is defined in NRS 484A.095 as "... the

³ <u>Hudson v. Warden</u> dealt with language contained in NRS 484.3785, which was later superseded by NRS 484C.430. Both statutes contained the language "on or off the highways of this state."

entire width between the boundary lines of every way dedicated to a public authority when any part of the way is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular traffic, whether or not the public authority is maintaining the way." The facts contained in the information which Appellant pled guilty to clearly establish that Appellant was driving on a highway as defined pursuant to statute. AA012. Under the location of element of either 484C.110 or 484C.430, the facts admitted to were sufficient to establish he was guilty of violating 484C.430.

Therefore, Appellant could not have relied on this Information to his disadvantage and been prejudiced. Appellant did not raise any issue with the Second Amended Information until after he had pled guilty pursuant to <u>Alford</u>. Pursuant to <u>State v. Jones</u>, this Court should consider whether the Second Amended Information properly placed Appellant on notice under the reduced standard of whether this error affected Appellant's substantial rights. 96 Nev. at 76, 605 P.2d at 205–06. Here, any error clearly did not, as under either standard Appellant was placed sufficiently on notice regarding the crime he was charged with and pled guilty to. As such, the Second Amended Information granted subject matter jurisdiction on the district court.

C. Appellant's Arguments to the Contrary are Unpersuasive

In an attempt to circumvent this obvious conclusion Appellant poses a series of arguments detailing why the district court did not have subject matter jurisdiction. Appellant's first argument seems to be that the State did not even charge a lawful offense. <u>AOB</u> at 9-13. Appellant accuses the State of comingling statutes to create some kind of Frankenstein's Monster of a charge that has no legitimacy in the Court of law.

Appellant's claim is belied by the record. Appellant was charged with violating NRS 484C.110 and 484C.430. These codified statutes clearly delineate that it is a public offense to cause substantial bodily harm to another person while driving intoxicated. The State's inclusion of the two statutes in the information is a reflection of the fact that NRS 484C.430 is actually a penalty enhancement statute (see below for analysis on this point). Further, it has long been established that where "a single offense may be committed by one or more specified means, and those means are charged alternatively, the State need only prove one of the alternative means in order to sustain a conviction." <u>State v. Kirkpatrick</u>, 94 Nev. 628, 630, 584 P.2d 670, 671-72 (1978). As such, the listing of multiple statutes does not create "a commingling of offenses."

The Second Amended Information admittedly contained some language from NRS 484C.110. However, Appellant seems to be under the impression that the operative difference between NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 is whether the offense is committed on "a highway or premises to which the public has access" or "on or off the highways of this state." Appellant further seems to assume NRS 484.110 is a "misdemeanor DUI statute" while NRS 484C.430 is the "felony DUI statute." This is incorrect.

First, NRS 484C.110 makes driving while intoxicated punishable by either a misdemeanor or a felony depending on a number of circumstances. NRS 484C.400. As such, it is fundamentally incorrect to refer to it as a misdemeanor statute. Second, NRS 484C.430 is a penalty enhancement statute. The title of NRS 484C.430 actually says: "Penalty if death or substantial bodily harm results...". What NRS 484C.430 proscribes then is an escalated penalty for individuals who cause substantial bodily harm to another individual while driving intoxicated. This is the operative difference between the two statutes, whether harm occurred. Further, in an attempt to curb such behavior, the legislature further expanded where such an incident would result in a chargeable offense by expanding the language of on "a highway or premises to which the public has access" to "on or off the highways of this state."

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